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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION

1730 K STREET NW, 6TH FLOOR
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006

July 10, 1996

SECRETARY OF LABOR, )
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH :  Docket Nos. WEVA 93-394-D
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA), : WEVA 93-395-D
on behalf of CLETIS R. WAMSLEY, : WEVA 93-396-D
ROBERT A. LEWIS, JOHN B. TAYLOR, : WEVA 93-397-D
CLARK D. WILLIAMSON and - WEVA 93-398-D
SAMUEL COYLE :

\Z

MUTUAL MINING, INC.

BEFORE: Jordan, Chairman; Holen, Marks and Riley, Commissioners

BY THE COMMISSION:

This discrimination proceeding arises under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of
1977, 30 U.S.C.§ 801 et seq. (1994) (“Mine Act” or “Act”). Following an evidentiary hearing,
Administrative Law Judge Arthur J. Amchan concluded that Mutual Mining, Inc. (“Mutual”)
violated section 105(c) of the Mine Act, 30 U.S.C. § 815(c), when it terminated five miners.
Secretary of Labor ex rel. Wamsley v. Mutual Mining, Inc., 16 FMSHRC 1304, 1320 (June 1994)
(ALJ). The judge assessed a civil penalty of $5,000 for the section 105(c) violation, awarded the
miners back pay, and directed that any unemployment compensation that the miners received
following their discharge be deducted from back pay. 16 FMSHRC 2371, 2372-73 & n.1
(November 1994) (ALJ). The Commission thereafter denied petitions for discretionary review
filed by Mutual and the Secretary of Labor.

Subsequently, Mutual and the Secretary filed petitions for review in the U.S. Court of
Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. On April 3, 1996, the court issued its decision affirming in part
and reversing in part the decision of the Commission. Secretary of Labor ex rel. Wamsley v.
Mutual Mining, Inc., Nos. 95-1130 and 95-1212 (4th Cir.). The court affirmed the judge’s
determination that the five miners were discriminatorily discharged in violation of section 105(c)
of the Mine Act. The court reversed the judge’s deduction of unemployment compensation from
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the back pay awards.’

On May 28, 1996, the court issued its Mandate, Opinion and Certified Judgment in this
matter, returning the case to the Commission’s jurisdiction.

! Chairman Jordan and Commissioner Marks note that in reversing the back pay
determination, the court held that the Commission owed deference to the Secretary’s view on the
deductibility of unemployment compensation. Wamsley, slip op. at 6-9. The court disapproved
Meek v. Essroc Corp., 15 FMSHRC 606, 616-18 (April 1993), in which the Commission
announced a rule requiring the deduction of unemployment compensation from all back pay
awards, and Secretary of Labor ex rel. Nantz v. Nally & Hamilton Enterprises, Inc.,

16 FMSHRC 2208, 2216-20 (November 1994), which upheld Meek. Wamsley, slip op. at 8-9.
The court determined the Secretary’s interpretation to be a reasonable one that “effectuates the
health and safety goals of the Act.” Id at 9-10.
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Pursuant to the court’s order, we remand this matter to the judge to recalculate the
miners’ back pay awards and we direct the judge not to deduct unemployment compensation
received by the miners from their awards.

Ypoo Z- Yoo
Mdry Luﬂordan, Cffairman

Arlene Holen, Cormmsswner i

Marc Lincoln Marks, Commissioner

o C VA SN
es C. Riley, Commissioner d/———
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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION

1730 K STREET NW, 6TH FLOOR
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006

July 30, 1996

SECRETARY OF LABOR,
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA)

" : Docket No. SE 94-92-M

FLUOR DANIEL, INCORPORATED
BEFORE: Jordan, Chairman; Holen, Marks and Riley, Commissioners

DECISION

BY THE COMMISSION:

This civil penalty proceeding, arising under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of
1977, 30 U.S.C. § 801 et seq. (1994) (“Mine Act” or “Act”), raises the issue of whether Fluor
Daniel, Inc. (“Fluor”) violated 30 C.F.R. § 56.14101(a)(1) (1995).! Administrative Law Judge
Jerold Feldman concluded that Fluor did not violate the section. 16 FMSHRC 2049, 2054
(October 1994) (ALJ). The Commission granted the Secretary of Labor’s petition for
discretionary review, which challenges the judge’s vacation of the citation. For the following
reasons, we reverse the judge’s decision.

1 30 C.F.R. § 56.14101(a)(1), entitled “Brakes,” states:

Minimum requirements. Self-propelled mobile equipment
shall be equipped with a service brake system capable of stopping

and holding the equipment with its typical load on the maximum
grade it travels. This standard does not apply to equipment which
is not originally equipped with brakes unless the manner in which
the equipment is being operated requires the use of brakes for safe
operation. This standard does not apply to rail equipment.
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L.

Factua] and Procedural Background

On April 21, 1993, Steven Crapps, an employee of Fluor, was operating a Komatsu
forklift truck at the Ridgeway Mine, an open pit gold mine located near Ridgeway, South
Carolina. 16 FMSHRC at 2050-51. At the top of the highwall, Crapps put the forklift into
neutral, set the parking brake, and shut off the engine. Jd. at 2051. The forklift started to roll
forward and Crapps applied the brake pedal; however, the brakes did not respond. /d. The
forklift traveled approximately 15 feet down a 5 to 6 percent grade and pushed Johnny Ray, also
an employee of Fluor, over a berm whereupon he fell to a bench 86 feet below. /d. Ray
sustained fatal injuries. /d

The Department of Labor’s Mine Safety and Health Administration (“MSHA”) began an
accident investigation on the morning of April 22. Jd. That same day, MSHA issued a citation
to Fluor alleging a significant and substantial (“S&S”™)? violation of section 56.14101(a)(1)’ for
an alleged defect in the service brakes. Id.; see Ex. P-6, at 4. On April 24, the forklift was
removed from the mine and taken to Greensboro, North Carolina for further inspection and
testing. 16 FMSHRC at 2051-52.

The forklift truck was equipped with an accumulator designed to activate the service
brake system with the engine off. /& When functioning properly, the accumulator forces
accumulated brake fluid into the service brake system, permitting effective operation of the brake
fluid pump for approximately five to ten depressions of the brake pedal, which should stop and
hold the forklift when the engine is not running. /Jd MSHA examined the service braking
system with the engine running and found that there was adequate hydraulic fluid and pressure.
Id. However, with the engine off, a pressure gauge test of the accumulator indicated no pressure.
Id. at 2052; Ex. P-6, at 2.

? The S&S terminology is taken from section 104(d)(1) of the Act, 30 U.S.C.
§ 814(d)(1), which distinguishes as more serious in nature any violation that “could significantly
and substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a.. . . mine safety or health hazard . . ..”

3 In connection with the accident, MSHA also issued an imminent danger order under 30
U.S.C. § 817(a) requiring immediate removal of the forklift. 16 FMSHRC at 2051, 2054. Two
other citations were issued against Fluor alleging violations of 30 C.F.R. § 56.14101(a)(2), for a
defective parking brake, and 30 C.F.R. § 56.14100(a), for inadequate inspection of the forklift.
The judge affirmed the order and the two citations. Id. at 2051, 2054-60. They were not
appealed and are not at issue before the Commission.
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Fluor contested the violation and, after an evidentiary hearing, the judge vacated the
citation. Construing section 56.14101(a)(1) in conjunction with 30 C.F.R. § 56.14101(b),* the
judge stated that section (a)(1) “relates to the service brakes’ effectiveness in stopping moving (in
service) vehicles in that tests to support violations of this mandatory standard are conducted on
moving vehicles.” 16 FMSHRC at 2053-54 (emphasis added). The judge explained that the
service brake system functioned adequately when the engine was running and thus the Secretary
failed to establish a violation of section 56.14101(a)(1). /d. The judge noted that 30 C.F.R.

§ 56.14101(a)(3), requiring all braking systems to be maintained in functional condition, was
applicable to the accumulator malfunction but the Secretary did not cite Fluor under that section.
Id. at 2054.

1.

The Secretary argues that section 56.14101(a)(1), by its plain terms, requires a service
brake system to be capable of stopping and holding moving equipment, regardless of whether the
equipment’s engine is on or off. PDR at 8. Additionally, the Secretary asserts that the
Commission must give weight to his interpretation of the regulations and that his interpretation
of section 56.14101(a)(1) effectuates its purposes. Id. at 7-10.

Fluor counters that the judge correctly construed section 56.14101(a)(1) to apply only to
the effectiveness of service brakes on moving vehicles with engines running. F. Br. at 4-5. It
asserts that adequate brakes had been installed, that the standard provides the method and criteria
for testing under subsection (b), and that, because it was stipulated that the brakes met the
requirements of subsection (b), the brakes did not violate the standard. Id at 7-8, 10-11. Fluor
further contends that section 56.14101(a)(1) does not require that brakes once installed be
maintained in functional condition and that the Secretary cited Fluor under the wrong provision
of that standard. /4. at 7-8, 12.

“Where the language of a statutory or regulatory provision is clear, the terms of that
provision must be enforced as they are written . . . .” Utah Power & Light Co., 11 FMSHRC

* Section 56.14101(b), involving testing of brakes, provides in part:

(1) Service brake tests shall be conducted when an MSHA
inspector has reasonable cause to believe that the service brake
system does not function as required, unless the mine operator
removes the equipment from service for the appropriate repair;

(2) The performance of the service brakes shall be evaluated
according to Table M-1.
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1926, 1930 (October 1989); see also Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council,
Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 842-43 (1984). Section 56.14101(a)(1) provides: “Self-propelled mobile
equipment shall be equipped with a service brake system capable of stopping and holding the
equipment with its typical load on the maximum grade it travels.” That section does not limit the
braking requirement to moving vehicles with engines running. Under its plain language, the
service brakes must be capable of stopping and holding the equipment on the maximum grade it
travels. The uncontroverted evidence established that the forklift's brakes failed to meet this
requirement. 16 FMSHRC at 2051-52. Thus, the judge erred in vacating Citation No. 4094231
and we reverse his determination that the Secretary failed to establish a violation of section
56.14101(a)(1).

We reject Fluor’s argument that section 56.14101(b) limits the scope of subsection (a)
and requires a different result. Section 56.14101(b) relates only to the testing of service brakes
when there is “reasonable cause to believe that the service brake system does not function, as
required . . ..” Section 56.14101(a)(1) does not state that the tests contained in subsection (b) are
the exclusive means of determining the effectiveness of service brakes. As the Notice
accompanying the publication of this rule in the Federal Register stated, “Testing would only be
utilized in those instances when there is disagreement about the performance capabilities of the
service brakes.” 53 Fed. Reg. 32,496, 32,505 (August 25, 1988). That the forklift’s brakes failed
at the time of the accident and in subsequent testing was not disputed. Therefore, MSHA
properly cited a violation of section 56.14101(a)(1). Moreover, even if section 56.14101(b) were
applicable here, it does not specify that the effectiveness of brakes can only be determined with
the engine running. To the extent that the judge read into section 56.14101 any of these
additional requirements, he erred.

In addition, even if the forklift’s lack of braking capability could have been cited under
section 56.14101(a)(3) or 30 C.F.R. § 56.14100(b),’ as Fluor asserts (F. Br. 12), we conclude that
the condition was properly cited under section 56.14101(a)(1). A hazardous condition may
violate more than one standard and the fact that MSHA determines not to issue citations under all
applicable sections does not render invalid the citations it does issue. See Cyprus Tonopah
Mining Corp., 15 FMSHRC 367, 378 (March 1993).

5 Section 56.14100(b) provides:
Defects on any equipment, machinery, and tools that affect

safety shall be corrected in a timely manner to prevent the creation
of a hazard to persons.
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I11.
Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, we reverse the judge’s vacation of the citation alleging a
violation of section 56.14101(a)(1). At the hearing, the parties stipulated that a violation
involving the failure to have operational service brakes was properly characterized as S&S. 16
FMSHRC at 2052. We remand for reassessment of penalty, including consideration of the S&S
nature of the violation.
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Arlene Holen, Commissioner
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Administrative Law Judge Jerold Feldman

Federal Mine Saftey & Health Review Commission
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5203 Leesburg Pike

Falls Church, VA 22041

1148



ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE DECISIONS






FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION

OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGES
2 SKYLINE, Suite 1000
5203 LEESBURG PIKE
FALLS CHURCH, VIRGINIA 22041

JUL2 199

SECRETARY OF LABOR, TEMPORARY REINSTATEMENT PROCEEDING
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA),
on behalf of

JIMMY D. CARNES,

Complainant

DOCKET NO. KENT 96-276-D
BARB CD 96-04

No. 3 Mine

V. Mine ID 15-17350

&8 88 4% 88 e

DYNASTY RESOURCES, INC.,
Respondent

The Secretary has moved to withdraw his application for
temporary reinstatement on the grounds that the Complainant has
obtained other' employment. The motion to withdraw is approved and
these proceedings are dismissed. Commission Rule 11, 29 C.F.R.

§ 2700.11.

Gary 1
Administrative Law Judge
Distribution:

MaryBeth Bernui, Esq., Office 9f the Solicitor, U.S. Dept. of
Labor, 2002 Richard Jones Road, $hite B-201, Nashville, TN 37215

Mr. Saul Akers, Agent for Serviceg, Dynasty Resources, Inc., State
Rt. 1056, P.O. Box 126, McCarr, KY 41544

Mr. Jimmy D. Carnes, H.C. 69, Box 255, Arjay, KY 40902

Tony Oppegard, Esq., Mine Safety Project/ARDF of Kentucky, Inc.,
630 Maxwelton Court, Lexington, KY 40508

/3f
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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION .

OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGES
2 SKYLINE, 10th FLOOR
5203 LEESBURG PIKE
FALLS CHURCH, VIRGINIA 22041

JUL 15199

SECRETARY OF LABOR, : CIVIL PENALTY PROCEEDING
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH :
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA), : Docket No. KENT 95-568
Petitioner : A.C. No. 15-02263-03520
V. -

Darby Fork No. 1 Mine
LONE MOUNTAIN PROCESSING, INC.,

Respondent 3

DRECISION

Appearances: Charles H. Grace, Conference and Litigation
Representative, U.S. Department of Labor,
Mine Safety and Health Administration,
Barbourville, Kentucky, for the Petitiomner;
Michael O. McKown, Esg., Robinson & McElwee,
Charleston, West Virginia, for the Respondent.

Before: Judge Feldman

The above captioned proceeding is before me as a result of a
petition for civil penalty filed by the Secretary of Labor
pursuant to section 105(d) of the Federal Mine Safety and Health
Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. § 801 et seq., (the Mine Act). This
case was called for hearing on March 27, 1996, in Pineville,
Kentucky.? The parties stipulated the respondent is a
large operator subject to the jurisdiction of the Mine Act.
(Joint Ex. 1).

1 The March 27, 1996, hearing was initially scheduled for
November 14, 1995. The hearing was continued until January 11,
1996, due to an interruption in government operations as a
consequence of the budget impasse. The January 11, 1996, hearing
date was once again continued because of the government shutdown.
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At the hearing the parties moved to settle Citation
Nos. 4485356 and 9987989. The settlement terms include deleting
the significant and substantial (S&S) designation from Citation
No. 4485356, and reducing the total proposed civil penalty for
these two citations from $925.00 to $600.00. The terms of the

parties’ settlement proposal were approved on the record and are
incorporated herein.

Remaining Citation No. 4465629, issued by Mine Safety
and Health Administration Inspector (MSHA) Harold Scott on
March 1, 1995, concerns an S&S vioclation of the mandatory safety
standard in 30 C.F.R. § 75.370 for the respondent’s alleged
failure to follow its approved ventilation plan. The parties’
post-hearing briefs with respect to this citation have been
considered in my disposition of this proceeding.

Statement of the Cage

The operative ventilation plan dated September 13, 1994,
required the installation of numerous check curtains in entries
outby the last open crosscut in order to ventilate the working
faces. 1Inspector Scott testified there was no set way the
curtains had to be installed as long as “you get ventilation to
all [working] places.” (Tr. 46-47). The issue to be decided is
whether the Secretary has established, by a preponderance of
the evidence, that one of the numerous required check curtains
was not installed at 8:30 a.m. on March 1, 1995.

The Secretary contends Inspector Scott observed a missing
check curtain in the No. 4 entry at the No. 2 crosscut (also
referred to as the No. 2 “break”). Scott’s citation was issued
on the surface after Scott found excessive methane in a cavity
caused by a bleeder crack.? However, there was no methane
detected at the roof line inby or outby the bleeder cavity.
Significantly, as discussed below, Scott did not specify which
required check curtain was missing in Citation No. 4465629. (See
Gov. Ex. 2).

2 A bleeder is an area in a coal seam where methane is
liberated causing a pocket of methane. (Tr. 100-01).
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The respondent asserts that Scott’s detection of this
excessive methane from a bleeder crack in the roof cavity
motivated Scott to speculate that there was a missing check
curtain although all required curtains had been installed. The
respondent argues the ventilation plan was followed. It
maintains the bleeder crack in the roof cavity was a unique
condition that could not be ventilated by routine adherence to
the approved ventilation plan.

Prelimi Findi

The respondent’s Darby Fork No. 1 Mine is an underground
coal site located in Eastern Kentucky. Work at the facility is
divided into three shifts -- 11:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. (owl shift),
7:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m., and 3:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m. The owl
shift is the maintenance shift. The two other shifts produce
coal. Bernie Johnson was the supervisor when the owl shift ended
at 7:00 a.m. on March 1, 1995. Johnson’s responsibilities
included readying the section for coal production on the next
shift. As part of his duties, Johnson conducted a preshift
examination, including an inspection of the check curtains, at
approximately 6:00 to 6:30 a.m., on March 1, 1995. Johnson
testified that his preshift exam revealed a problem with the
check curtain in the No. 4 entry in that the curtain had been
torn “about halfway down.” Johnson testified that he hung the
curtain back up sometime prior to 6:30 a.m.

At about the same time Johnson was conducting his preshift
exam at 6:30 a.m., Scott arrived at the Darby Fork facility to
perform an inspection and to conduct respirable dust surveys.
Scott testified he entered the mine at approximately 7:00 a.m.
with John Richardson, the respondent’s Foreman. Scott testified
that as he and Richardson traversed the No. 2 crosscut proceeding
towards the No. 5 entry, he observed a curtain down in'the
No. 4 entry. However, Scott did not advise Richardson of any
violative condition at that time.

Scott testified he proceeded to turn inby the No. 5 entry
off the No. 2 break. The No. 5 entry was approximately 56 inches
from floor to roof requiring Scott and Richardson to bend as they
traveled the entry. As they turned into the No. 5 entry, Scott
observed a cavity between the No. 2 and No. 1 breaks. The cavity
area, which was properly supported, was created by draw rock that
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had fallen during the mining process. The cavity width was the
full width of the entry and it was approximately 20 feet long.
Scott estimated the highest part of the cavity was approximately
76 inches from the mine floor. The depth of the cavity above the
normal roof line ranged from approximately 13 to 24 inches.

Scott placed his methanometer approximately 12 inches from
the roof of the cavity and immediately obtained readings above
two percent. Scott withdrew the methanometer to avoid causing
damage to this sensitive instrument by this high reading. 1In
view of the high methanometer reading, Scott, “remembering that
the [No. 4 entry] curtain was down,” ordered Richardson to
“get that block curtain over there and make the air shift over
here to number five.” (Tr. 29).

Scott remained in the cavity and took air bottle samples and
did not accompany Richardson to redirect the air flow. (Tr. 29,
109-10, 184). Scott took two bottle samples from locations
approximately 12 inches from the top of the cavity which
ultimately revealed high methane concentrations.? Methane
readings were negative for methane inby and outby the cavity at
the mine roof line. (Tr. 105-06). Scott testified that methane
gas is lighter than air. (Tr. 10l1). Therefore, Scott conceded
that a pocket of methane could remain in a cavity for an extended
period of time although there continued to be negative methane
readings at the roof line. JId.

Richardson testified he took immediate steps to ventilate
the cavity. He went to the No. 4 entry but did not see any
problem. Richardson, with the assistance of employees
Jimmy Taylor and Roy Gibson, tore down the disputed curtain in
the No. 4 entry and rehung it from corner to corner narrowing two
curtains to one for better airflow. (Tr. 181). In order to
better ventilate the cavity, Richardson also installed a line
curtain from the No. 4 entry across the No. 2 break directing the
intake air from the No. 4 entry into the cavity. (Tr. 183-89;
See Ex. R-1). Scott did not inspect the check curtains
Richardson had installed although they went through the curtains
as Scott continued his inspection. (Tr. 189). Richardson

3 Subsequent laboratory analysis revealed methane readings
of 5.780 percent and 2.730 percent.
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testified Scott never identified any specific curtain that was
missing and that should have been installed. JId. Richardson
stated he did not know Scott was going to cite the respondent for
a missing curtain until they had exited the mine and arrived on
the surface. (Tr. 190).

Furt} Findi i Conclusi

Mandatory safety standards are promulgated through the
rulemaking process and apply to all similarly situated mine
operators. 30 U.S.C. § 811. However, such universal
applications of safety standards are ineffective in addressing
conditions that are unique to particular mines. Consequently,
Congress provided for MSHA to require mine operators to adopt
comprehensive plans tailored to each mine that address specific
areas of health and safety such as the adequacy of mine
ventilation systems. 30 U.S.C. § 863. The plan adoption and
approval process is flexible and bilateral, requiring discussions
and negotiations between the operator and MSHA. The goal is
approval of a ventilation plan that is mutually agreeable and
that maximizes safety given the specific conditions that are
known to exist at a particular mine. Jim Walter Resources, Inc.,
9 FMSHRC 903, 907 (May 1987). A ventilation plan is not intended
to address future unanticipated conditions, such as cavities and
bleeders, that occur during the mining process.

Once a ventilation plan is adopted, its provisions are
enforceable as mandatory safety standards. Id. However, the
Secretary bears the burden of proving that the provision
allegedly violated is part of the approved plan, and, that
the cited condition or practice violates the provision. Id.

The Commission has stated that a violation cannot be established
when “the disputed language of the plan provision is ambiguous”
and the Secretary cannot “dispel the ambiguity.” Id., at 906-07.

In this case, the closest operative provisions in the
subject ventilation plan consist of a diagram on page 7 of the
plan that depicts curtains outby the last open crosscut in all
entries except the first and last entry. (Gov Ex. 4 at p. 7; Tr.
45). While the diagram is clear, for the reasons discussed
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below, the Secretary’s application of the diagram to the facts of
this case is ambiguous and inconsistent.*

Section 104 (a) of the Mine Act, 30 U.S.C. § 814(a),
specifies “[e]ach citation shall be in writing and shall
describe with particularity the nature of the violation . . .”
However, Inspector Scott’s citation, as well as his testimony,
reflects his uncertainty about the precise nature of the alleged
violation of the approved ventilation plan. For example,
Citation No. 4465629 only contains the general conclusion ‘that
“[tlhe approved ventilation plan was not being followed in the
002 section in that block curtains were not installed to direct a
volume and velocity of air current thru (sic) the No. 5 working
place in the 002 section, sufficient to dilute, render harmless
and to carry away explosive gasses [confined to the cavity].”
Thus, Citation No. 4465629 is lacking in specificity in that it

fails to identify the missing curtain or curtains that caused the
alleged violation.

Even if Scott had identified the missing curtain in Citation
No. 4465629, Scott’s testimony reflects the curtain requirements
in the approved plan were vague and subject to different
interpretations. In this regard, Scott stated:

There’s no set way that you could say this is exactly,
it has to be done exactly like this because you can do
it different ways and still get the same effect. But
you still would have to use the same amount of check
curtains in order to do it. You could -- I'm sure
there’s -- as sure as I sit here and tell you two ways,
someone else can tell me three others. BRBut the basic
hi ! tilati 1 . that r
ventilation to all the [woxrkingl places, (Emphasis
added) (Tr. 46-47; See also Tr. 102).

4 Of necessity, I have considered page 7 of the approved
plan as the operative provisions for the purpose of clarity. I
note, however, the Secretary has not even shown that page seven
constitutes the alleged violative provision. When asked “which
portion of the plan, if any, was violated by the condition
[Scott] observed,” Scott replied, “the closest one to it is page
seven.” (Tr. 45).
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Although Scott based his citation on inadequate ventilation,
Scott testified that all working places were indeed being
ventilated. He admitted there was no evidence of methane at the
mine roof line immediately inby the cavity indicating the
bleeding methane in the cavity was being effectively ventilated
and carried away through the air course. (Tr. 105-06). Scott
also believed there was no methane at the face, with or without
the disputed curtain. (Tr. 102-03, 120).

These inconsistencies in the Secretary’s case are reflected
by Scott’s testimony:

Q. However, if you put aside the cavity for a moment,
without the [No. 4] curtain, it was ventilating the
entries. There was no methane in the entries . . . If
it was ventilating the entries . . . would the
assumption be that the ventilation plan was being
complied with because the result was there was no
methane?

A. If the cavity hadn’t been there, it would have been
being complied with. But I’m sure there was movement
of air through there somewhere, but not by eliminating
a curtain.

Q. But there was enough movement inby and outby the
cavity because there was no methane at the normal roof
height; is that correct?

A. Right.

Q. So in essence installing the curtain was -- solely
the routine as far as you know was to clear the cavity?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Given the fact that there was no methane inby the
cavity, would that give you any reason to draw
conclusions with regard to whether or not there was

methane at the face before the curtain was installed?

A. No, sir. I don‘t think there was any methane at
the face.
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Q. Before the curtain was installed?
A. Before or after, neither one. (Tr. 119-20).

Albert McFarland, an MSHA ventilation supervisor, also testified
he did not know whether the respondent was violating the plan’s
minimum air velocity requirements in the last open crosscut and
at the face, with or without the disputed curtain.® (Tr.149-50).

With respect to bleeders in cavities, Scott conceded that a
ventilation plan “doesn’t contemplate anything on bleeders unless
we have a mine that specifically has a problem with bleeders.”®
(Tr. 108). However, the Secretary does not contend the
respondent’s mine has a bleeder problem. Thus, the respondent’s
approved ventilation plan was not intended to address future
isolated pockets of methane caused by unanticipated bleeder
problems. Nevertheless, Scott opined that he would not have
cited the respondent for violating its ventilation plan if there
was no methane in the cavity. (Tr. 93-94, 95, 116). This is the
essence of Secretary’s problem. The lynchpin of the Secretary’s
case, ji.e., the methane confined to the cavity, is not a material
factor in determining whether the respondent complied with its
ventilation plan.

In summary, the record is unclear as to whether the No. 4
curtain was down when Scott commenced his inspection. Scott did
not initially believe there was a violation. It was only after
he discovered methane in the cavity that he “remembered” seeing
the missing curtain. (Tr. 29). Moreover, Scott did not
accompany Richardson to observe the curtain conditions before
Richardson took remedial measures to redirect air into the
cavity. Even if the disputed curtain was not in place, the
effective ventilation of methane at the faces, in conjunction
with Scott’s testimony that there are many permissible

5 The ventilation plan requires a minimum of 4,500 cubic
feet per minute (CFM) at the working face and 15,000 CFM at the
last open crosscut. (Tr. 147-48; Gov Ex. 4 at pp. 6-7).

¢ McFarland testified ventilation plans are “generic in

nature” and specify minimum ventilation requirements at a
particular mine. (Tr. 122, 146).
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alternative methods of curtain placement under the plan, leads me

to conclude that the Secretary has not established the alleged
condition violated the plan’s provisions.

In conclusion, an isolated pocket of methane, alone, is not
evidence of a ventilation plan violation. When asked if Scott
would have issued the citation absent the methane in the cavity,
Scott replied, “I may have, and then I may not.” (Tr. 116).
Such indecision does not satisfy the Secretary’s burden of
proof.?” Accordingly, Citation No. 4465629 citing a violation of
section 75.370(a) for the respondent’s alleged failure to follow
its approved ventilation plan is vacated.

ORDER

In view of the above, IT IS ORDERED that Citation
No. 4465629 IS VACATED. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the motion
for approval of settlement with respect to Citation Nos. 4485356
and 9987989 IS APPROVED. Consistent with the settlement terms,
the respondent shall pay a total civil penalty of $600.00 to the
Mine Safety and Health Administration within 30 days of the date

of this decision. Upon timely receipt of payment, this case
IS DISMISSED.

A=
Jerold Feldman
Administrative Law Judge

7 This decision should not be construed as a finding that
excessive methane is a prerequisite to a ventilation plan
violation. On the contrary, I agree with McFarland that a
required missing curtain, absent methane concentrations, still
constitutes a plan violation. (Tr. 150). Here, however, the
Secretary failed to demonstrate the disputed curtain was missing,
or, that it was required under the provisions of the plan.
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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION
1244 SPEER BOULEVARD #280
DENVER, CO 80204-3582
303-844-3577/FAX 303-844-5268

JUL 16199

SECRETARY OF LABOR, DISCRIMINATION PROCEEDING

MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA),
on behalf of
DAVID HOPKINS,
Complainant

Docket No. CENT 95-122-DM
Sweetwater Mine

Mine I.D. 23-00458
v.

ASARCO, INCORPORATED,
Respondent
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SUPP AL ION

Appearances: Margaret A. Miller, Esq., Office of the Solicitor,
U.S. Department of Labor, Denver, Colorado, for
the Secretary of Labor and David Hopkins;

Henry Chajet, Esq., and M. Shane Edgington, Esq.,
Patton and Boggs, Washington, D.C., and Denver,
Colorado, for Asarco, Inc.

Before: Judge Manning

This proceeding was brought by the Secretary of Labor on
behalf of David Hopkins against Asarco, Inc. ("Asarco") under
section 105(c) of the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977,
30 U.S.C. § 801 et seqg. (1988) ("Mine Act"). In a decision
entered March 4, 1996, I found that Mr. Hopkins’ discharge
violated section 105(c) of the Mine Act. 18 FMSHRC 317 (March
1996). In the decision, I ordered the parties to confer for the
purpose of reaching an agreement as to the appropriate amount of
back pay and other reasonable, related economic losses. The
parties were unable to agree on any of these matters. Each party
submitted a written proposal setting forth its position on these
issues. The proposals were somewhat ambiguous and, during a
conference call, I asked the parties to file supplemental
proposals on or before July 1, 1996. The Secretary filed a
supplement but Asarco elected not to do so.

I. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

A. Back Pay

The Secretary states that Mr. Hopkins was unemployed for
four months before he obtained another full time job. Asarco did
not dispute this fact. His gross pay per week at Asarco was
$568.00. This amount was often increased by a shift differential
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and overtime. Including shift differentials and overtime,
Hopkins’ gross pay was $10,470 during the four months preceding
his discharge, May through August 1994.! Accordingly, I find
that he would have earned this amount during the four month
period that he was unemployed. The total amount of gross back
pay due Mr. Hopkins is $10,470.00. Asarco shall withhold
appropriate, lawful payroll deductions for Social Security,
federal income taxes, medicare taxes, and state income taxes.

B. Bonus Pay

The Secretary states that Mr. Hopkins is entitled to bonus
pay of $1,750.00 because that is the amount the Secretary claims
he received during the four months preceding his discharge.
Asarco contends that he is not entitled to bonus pay, but states
that he received an average bonus of $288.00 per month during the
four months preceding his discharge for a total of $1,150.00. My
examination of the payroll records reveals that Hopkins received
$1,396.00 in gross bonus pay during the four months prior to his
charge. Accordingly, I find that Mr. Hopkins is entitled to
bonus pay of $1,396.00. Asarco shall withhold apprOpriate
lawful payroll deductions for Social Security, federal income
taxes, medicare taxes, and state income taxes.

C. Vacation

The Secretary states that Mr. Hopkins is entitled to four
weeks of vacation pay, two weeks for 1994 and two weeks for 1995.
The Secretary states that the total gross amount due is
$2,615.50. Asarco states that Mr. Hopkins is not entitled to any
vacation pay because he could not have earned a year’s vacation
pay in the four months that he was unemployed. I find that Mr.
Hopkins is entitled to two weeks vacation pay. Section 105(c) of
the Mine Act was designed, in part, "to put an employee into the
financial position he would have been in but for the discrim-
ination." Kentucky Carbon Corp., 4 FMSHRC 1, 2 (January 1982).
Vacation pay may constitute a part of a back pay award. Northern
Coal Co., 4 FMSHRC 126, 142-43 (February 1982). Accordingly, I
find that he is entitled to two weeks vacation pay in the amount
of $1,136.00. Asarco shall withhold appropriate, lawful payroll
deductions for Social Security, federal income taxes, medicare
taxes, and state income taxes.

! This figure is $8.00 higher than that calculated by the
Secretary due to differences in rounding techniques. The Secretary
submitted Mr. Hopkins’ payroll records for this period. All of my
calculations in this case are based on these records and Mr.
Hopkins’ 1994 federal tax return. All of my calculations are shown
on a worksheet that I hereby make a part of the official record in
this case. I am sending a copy of this worksheet to the parties
but I am not attaching it to this decision.
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I find that he is not entitled to two weeks of vacation pay
for calendar year 1995, however. The Secretary argues that he
lost 1995 vacation time because his new employer would not allow
him to take a two-week vacation in 1995. Mr. Hopkins was dis-
charged in September 1994. I believe that the Secretary’s
request for 1995 vacation pay is misplaced. He had not accrued
such leave at the time of his discharge and Asarco cannot be held
responsible for the vacation leave policies of Hopkins’ new
employer.

D. Miscellaneous Expenses

The Secretary contends that Mr. Hopkins is entitled to
$247.00 for miscellaneous expenses related to the prosecution of
this proceeding and looking for a new job. Reimbursement of
hearing expenses and other similar expenses "is an appropriate
form of remedial relief." Northern Coal, 4 FMSHRC at 144.
Accordingly, this request is granted.

The Secretary also requests that Mr. Hopkins be reimbursed
for the pay he lost to attend his deposition and the hearing in
this matter. Asarco contends that it should not be responsible
for any compensation Mr. Hopkins may have lost as a result of
attending his deposition or hearing. I disagree. I hold that he
is entitled to $973.00 for this item, which the Secretary
represents is the pay he lost for attending his deposition and
the hearing. Asarco did not dispute this amount.

E. Interim Earnings

Mr. Hopkins obtained temporary employment before he started
working for his current employer. According to his 1994 federal
tax return, his gross earnings were $2,510.00. This amount is to
be subtracted from the back pay due.

F. te t

Mr. Hopkins is entitled to interest on his back pay award.
The Secretary asks for $2,011.06 in interest. The Secretary used
gross back pay and gross bonus pay when making the interest
calculation. In addition, the Secretary did not follow the for-
mula for calculating interest that the Commission established in
Arkansas-Carbona Co., 5 FMSHRC 2042, 2051-53 (December 1983) and
modified in Clinchfield Coal Co., 10 FMSHRC 1493, 1504-06 (Novem-
ber 1988). I find that the interest calculation should be based
on his net pay not his gross pay. It is not possible for me to
determine exactly what his net pay will be since the parties were
unable to agree on the amount of net back pay that Mr. Hopkins is
due. Accordingly, I have calculated the interest based on Mr.
Hopkins net pay during the four months preceding his termination
based on my examination of the payroll records. Mr. Hopkins’ net
bonus pay is also included in the calculations. I calculated the
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interest using the method established by the Commission in the
cases set forth above. My calculations are set forth on the
worksheet. The total interest owed through July 31, 1996 is
$1,040.00.

G. ot. unt Back Pa nterest nd en
1. Back pay = $10,470.00 minus payroll deductions.
2. Bonus pay = $1,396.00 minus payroll deductions.
3. Vacation pay = $1,136.00 minus payroll deductions.
4. Miscellaneous expenses = $1,220.
5. Interest through 7/31/96 = $1,040.00.

6. Interim earnings of $2,510.00 shall be subtracted from
the amount due.

H. R t e

At the hearing Mr. Hopkins was asked whether he would want
to go back to work at the Sweetwater Mine if reinstatement was
ordered. He replied: "I can’t answer for sure. Quite possibly,
I would go back." (Tr. 909). In my decision of March 4, 1996, I
asked the parties to stipulate to the position and salary to
which Mr. Hopkins should be reinstated, if he seeks reinstate-
ment. 18 FMSHRC at 335. The parties did not reach an agreement.
In the Secretary’s submission, counsel for the Secretary states
that "Mr. Hopkins seeks reinstatement to his former position with
ASARCO, including any pay raises, seniority, or other benefits
that he would have received had his employment continued."
(Secretary’s Response to ALJ’s Order at 1).

The time has come for Mr. Hopkins to determine whether he
wants to be reinstated. He cannot wait to see whether his
prospects are better with his present employer or with Asarco.
If Mr. Hopkins wishes to be reinstated, he must notify the
appropriate officials at Asarco’s Sweetwater Mine as soon as
possible, but no later that August 16, 1996. If Mr. Hopkins
fails to provide such notification on or before August 16, 1996,
he waives all rights to reinstatement.

I. Civil Penalt

The Secretary seeks a civil penalty of $5,000.00. Asarco
contends that the proposed penalty is excessive "in light of the
good faith demonstrated by ASARCO here and the lack of a prior
history of discrimination claims at the Sweetwater Mine."
(Asarco’s Reply at 3). Based on the record in this case and the
penalty criteria at section 110(i) of the Mine Act I find that a
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civil penalty of $800.00 is appropriate. The Sweetwater Mine has
a history of 49 violations in the two years preceding Hopkins’
discharge. It does not have a history of any violations of
section 105(c) of the Mine Act. The mine produces about 1.3
millions tons a year and employs about 90 hourly workers and 9
salaried employees underground. (Tr. 774). Asarco is a large
operator. The penalty is appropriate for the size of the
business and will not affect its ability to stay in business.

In my decision on the merits, I made the following findings:

Asarco was diligent in attempting to
discover why Hopkins was concerned about the
high scaler. I credit Asarco’s evidence that
the Sweetwater Mine encourages miners to
raise safety complaints and that management
attempts to address these safety concerns.
Indeed, the mine has never had a discrim-
ination claim under the Mine Act prior to
this case. In the particular facts of this
case, however, I find that [mine management]
did not address Hopkins’ safety concerns "in
a way that his fears reasonably should have
been quelled."

18 FMSHRC at 326-27 (citation omitted). I find that Asarco’s
negligence was low and that the gravity of the violation was low.
Based on the record, I also find that Asarco’s discharge of Mr.
Hopkins will not have a significant chilling effect on miners who
wish to exercise their rights under the Mine Act at the

Sweetwater Mine. See, Secretary on behalf of Johnson v. Jim
Walter Resources, Inc., 18 FMSHRC 552, 557-59 (April 1996).

Several other miners did not consider the high scaler to be
unsafe and were willing to operate it. Under the facts of this
case, it is unlikely that miners will be reluctant to refuse to
work in the face of hazardous conditions or reluctant to raise
safety issues because of Mr. Hopkins’ termination.

The good faith criterion is difficult to apply in the
context of this case. Section 110(i) defines the criterion as
"the demonstrated good faith of the person charged in attempting
to achieve rapid compliance after notification of the violation."
A mine operator must abate a condition described in a citation or
order issued under section 104 of the Mine Act whether or not he
believes that the condition constitutes a violation. Thus, good
faith is concerned with how quickly and seriously a mine operator
tries to abate a condition after the citation is issued. 1In a
discrimination case, there is no obligation on a mine operator to
reinstate a discharged miner simply because the Secretary has
brought an action under 105(c). In this case, the Secretary did
not seek to have Mr. Hopkins temporarily reinstated. Thus,
Asarco was not required to rapidly comply with the alleged
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violation. Nothing in the record convinces me that Asarco’s
contest of the discrimination complaint was frivolous or was
filed in bad faith. Rather, Asarco believed, in good faith, that
its discharge of Mr. Hopkins did not violate section 105(c) of
the Mine Act. As stated above, Asarco was diligent in attempting
to discover why Hopkins was concerned about the high scaler.
Accordingly, I find that Asarco demonstrated good faith.

II. ORDER

A. On or before August 16, 1996, Respondent shall pay David
Hopkins back pay, interest, and miscellaneous expenses to be
computed in accordance with this decision, as summarized in
section I.G., above. Respondent shall also make payments to the
appropriate federal and state tax agencies of the withholdings
specified above.

B. On or before August 16, 1996, David Hopkins shall notify
appropriate officials of the Sweetwater Mine whether he wants to
be reinstated to his former position at the mine. If
reinstatement is sought, Respondent shall reinstate David Hopkins
to the same seniority, pay, status, benefits, and job conditions
that would apply to his employment had he not been discharged.

C. Respondent shall expunge from David Hopkins’ personnel
records all references to its discharge of him as a result of the
events of September 8, 1994.

D. Respondent is ordered to pay a civil penalty of $800.00
for the violation of section 105(c) of the Mine Act.

E. My decision of March 4, 1996, and this supplemental
decision and order shall constitute my final disposition of this
proceeding.

Richard W. Manning
Administrative Law Judge
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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION

1244 SPEER BOULEVARD #280
DENVER, CO 80204-3582
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JUL 161996

SECRETARY OF LABOR, CIVIL PENALTY PROCEEDINGS
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADMINISTRATION (MSHA),

Petitioner

V.

Docket No. WEST 93-644-M
A.C. No. 05-03985-05540 A

LOTHAN DWAYNE SKELTON,

employed by SKELTON, INC.,
Respondent

El-Jay Mine
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Docket No. WEST 93-645-M
A.C. No. 05-03985-05541 A

PERRY LEE ROWE,
employed by SKELTON, INC.,
Respondent

El-Jay Mine

DECISION

Appearances: Kristi L. Floyd, Esq., Dennis J. Tobin,
and Barbara J. Renowden, Office of the Solicitor,
U.S. Department of Labor, Denver, Colorado,
for Petitioner;
Ruth E. Gray, Lothan Dwayne Skelton and
Perry L. Rowe, Pro Se,
for Respondent.

Before: Judge Cetti

These consolidated cases are before me upon the petitions
for civil penalty filed by the Secretary of Labor pursuant to
section 110(c) of the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977,
30 U.S.C. § 801, et seq., the "Mine Act." Petitioner charges the
named Respondents as agents of the corporate mine operator,
Skelton, Inc., with knowingly authorizing, ordering or carrying
out the violation of five mandatory standards set forth in Part
56 Title 30 Code of Federal Regulations.

Section 110(c) of the Mine Act subjects agents of corporate
mine operators to civil penalties if the preponderance of evi-
dence established that: (1) a corporate operator committed a
violation of a mandatory health or safety standard or an order
issued under the Act; (2) the individual was an officer, direc-
tor, or agent of the corporate operator; and (3) the individual
"knowingly authorized, ordered, or carried out" the violation.
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In the proceeding against the agent, a violation by the
corporate operator must be proved. Kgnnx Richardson, 3 FMSHRC 8,
10 (January, 1981), aff’d sub nomn. ch on Secretar
Labor, 689 F.2d 632 (6th Cir. 1982), cert. denled 461 U.S. 928
(1983). The Secretary also has the burden of proving that the
person charged is an agent of the corporate operator. Section
3(e) of the Act defines an "agent" as "any person charged with
responsibility for the operation of all or part of a coal or
other mine, or the supervision of miners in a coal or other
mine."

The Secretary in order to establish liability of the agent
under 110(c) of the Mine Act also has the burden of proving by a
preponderance of the evidence that the agent "knowingly author-
ized, ordered or carried out" the violation. The Secretary, how-
ever, may sustain his burden of proof on this issue by proving
the corporate agent "knew or had reason to know" of the violative
condition. Secretary v. Roy Glenn, 6 FMSHRC 1583, 1586 (July
1984), citing Kenny Richardson, 3 FMSHRC 8, 16 (January 1981).

In Kenny Richardson, the Commission stated:

If a person in a position to protect employee
safety and health fails to act on the basis
of information that gives him knowledge or
reason to know of the existence of a viola-
tive condition, he has acted knowingly and in
a manner contrary to the remedial nature of
the statute.

Thus, to establish section 110(c) liability, the Secretary
must prove only that the individuals knowingly acted, not that
the individuals knowingly violated the law. Beth Enerqy Mines,
Inc., 14 FMSHRC 1232, 1245 (August, 1992). In Roy Glenn, 6
FMSHRC 1583 (July, 1984), the Commission held, however, that
something more than the possibility of an underlying violation
must be shown to establish "reason to know". 6 FMSHRC at 1587-8.
Moreover, a "knowing" violation requires proof of "aggravated
conduct"” and not merely ordinary negligence. Wyoming Fuel Co.,
16 FMSHRC 1618, 1630 (August, 1994). -

In this case it is clear from the undisputed evidence that
Lothan Skelton is the owner, president and working manager of
Skelton, Inc. and that Perry Lee Rowe is the mine foreman. The
record shows beyond dispute that both Lothan Skelton and Perry
Rowe are agents of the corporation, Skelton, Inc., within the
meaning of section 3(e).

Citation No. 3904346 - Handrail for Elevated Walkway

MSHA charges Lothan D. Skelton and Perry L. Rowe with the
knowing violation of 30 C.F.R. § 56.11002. This safety standard
in relevant part requires elevated walkways to be of "substantial

1168



construction, provided with handrails and maintained in good
condition."

The citation reads as follows:

A section of metal handrailing about 6 feet
(approximately 1.8 meters) in length was
found not in place on the top walkway around
the Telesmith screen deck adjacent the
"screen feed conveyor" ... . The walkway was
approximately 15 feet (approximately 4.5
meters) above ground level and was used by
employees to service the screen and head
pulley of the screen feed conveyor. A person
falling from this height could easily receive
a very serious injury.

Furthermore, adding to the gravity of the
hazard, the existing handrailing at the west
end of the deck was not being maintained in
good condition. The railing was merely tied
together at the two corners. One corner was
tied with lightweight baling wire and the
other with plastic rope, which allowed large
openings to exist through which a person
could fall.

The crusher was in operation at the Norwood
pit, and two employees were observed using
the walkway for screen maintenance.

Skelton, Incorporated, has received cita-
tions in the past for this same hazardous
condition. Most recently was Citation No.
3904956 on 8-28-91. It is obvious that
reasonable care was not being taken by the
Operator to comply with the safety regula-
tion. This finding results with a high
degree of negligence on behalf of management,
which constitutes an "unwarrantable failure"
to comply.

Inspector Renowden who issued the citation observed
Respondent Perry Rowe, the foreman and the crusher operator on
the elevated walkway that "surrounds" the Telesmith screen deck.
Renowden testified that this elevated screen deck was provided
with an inadequate handrail along the perimeter of the walkway.
There were missing sections of the handrail which left openings
in the railing through which a person could fall. One corner of
the handrailing was tied with baling wire and another corner with
plastic rope. The handrails were not maintained in good
condition.
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The inspector designated the violation S&S because, if left
uncorrected, he was of the opinion that there was a reasonable
likelihood that a person could fall through the opening in the
handrailing to the ground or the machinery below. A person
falling from the screen deck would sustain serious injury.

On cross examination, Inspector Renowden, in response to Ms.
Gray’s assertion the walkway was about 10 feet above the ground,
testified that he only estimated the height of the walkway to be
12 to 15 feet above the ground, he did not measure the height.

I credit the testimony of Inspector Renowden. The prepon-
derance of the evidence establishes a knowing violation of the
cited safety standard by both of the named Respondents. Both
Skelton and the foreman Perry Rowe were aware of the obvious
violative condition of the handrail for an extended period of
time and failed to correct the violative condition of the hand-
rails. Their conduct was aggravated and constituted more than
ordinary negligence. This aggravated conduct subjected both
Respondents to liability under section 110(c) of the Act.

Order .« 3904353 - Stacking Conveyor Tail Pulley Guard

This 104(d) (1) order charges an unwarrantable S&S violation
of 30 C.F.R. § 56.14107(a) which requires guarding of tail
pulleys. The citation was issued for the alleged failure to
adequately guard the tail pulley of a stacking conveyor. The
citation reads as follows:

The metal guard provided on the tail pulley
of the "white" stacking conveyor located on
the upper mine bench was not acceptable.
Sections of the existing guard along each
side of the conveyor tail section were miss-
ing, thus exposing the dangerous rotating
"fluted fins" of the self cleaning pulley and
belt pinch points in that vicinity. The ex-
posed moving machinery was located approxi-
mately 2 feet (.54 m) from ground level and
was easily accessible to any of the three men
working at the crusher. Contact with this
hazard could result in at least a disabling
injury, if not a fatality.

This hazard and violation was very obvious
and should not have been allowed to exist.
It was obvious from visual observation that
the missing section of guard had been removed
with a "cutting torch." The guard when in
place would have safely guarded/protected
persons from contacting the moving machinery
parts. A large adjustable wrench was
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available hanging off the side of the
conveyor which is used to work on the
equipment. When discussing this condition
with the Operator he stated that the guard
was cut off so the belt could be adjusted.
When asked why the guard was not put back in
place after adjustment the comment was that
it was just "a pain and waste of their time
messing with them. A person is plain stupid
if they stick a hand or arm in there, and
they are not stupid!"

The Operator has not used reasonable care
on several occasions when it comes to the
application of guarding moving machinery.
This violation was obvious and known to the
Operator and is therefore evaluated as "high
negligence" and an "unwarrantable failure"
violation.

Inspector Renowden testified to all the material facts set
forth in the above quoted citation. I credit his testimony.

I find that Skelton and Rowe were both in a position to know
the existence of the inadequate guarding of the tail pulley. It
was an obvious violation. The named Respondents knowingly failed
to correct the condition. Under the facts and circumstances of
this case, this was "aggravated" conduct involving more than
merely ordinary negligence. This conduct subjected both named
Respondents to liability under 110(c) of the Act.

Order No. 3904360 - Two in Cab of Front Loader

This citation in pertinent part states:

The crusher foreman and crusher operator
were observed riding together in the opera-
tor’s cab of the KOMATSU WA350 front-end
loader. The two men were traveling in the
loader from the crushing plant to the upper
mine bench to pickup some parts. No provi-
sions were provided in the operator cab to
secure safe travel for the second rider. The
rider could be injured in the cab or fall out
of the cab while traveling which could be
fatal.

Inspector Renowden testified that during his inspection he
observed the crusher foreman Rowe get inside the cab of the
front-end loader next to the driver of the loader and travel to
the upper mine bench. The men were on the way to the upper mine
bench to pick up some parts needed to abate a citation issued by
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Renowden earlier in his inspection. Foreman Rowe stepped into
the cab of the front-end loader in full view of the inspectors
who were observing him as Rowe was not aware he was doing any-
thing wrong or hazardous. The size of the cab was approximately
4 feet by 5 feet. It is enclosed with a door and windows just
like a car. When you open the door there is a 2-foot by 5-foot
step to stand on with a handrail all around the step. Respon-
dents presented credible evidence that they were not aware they
were doing anything wrong because on a prior inspection, they had
observed an MSHA inspector get in the cab of the very same load-
er, next to the loader operator in the same manner as Rowe and
travel back and forth, up and down for more than an hour. Clear-
ly, there was violation of the cited standard and the operator,
Respondent Lothan Dwayne Skelton in his corporate persona,
Skelton, Inc., accepted by default the violation charged in this
identical enforcement document No. 3630301 and accepted the
assessed proposed penalty of $3,300.00 for this violation.

As stated earlier this was clearly a violation of the cited
standard. However, the violation involved merely ordinary negli-
gence. Unlike other safety standards for which Respondents were
cited, Respondents never had any prior citations or discussions
with MSHA personnel as to the requirement of the cited standard.
Under the facts and circumstances of this case, I do not find
that the conduct of Rowe or Skelton in this instance to be
"aggravated conduct." Having seen an MSHA inspector during an
earlier inspection of the plant travel in the same front-end
loader in the same manner Rowe traveled during the instant in-
spection, Respondent had reason to believe this conduct was
permissible safe non-hazardous conduct. Respondents were wrong
in their belief but the Commission has held that to be liable
under section 110(c), the corporate agent’s conduct must be
"aggravated;" it must involve more than ordinary negligence.

Wyoming Fuel Co., 16 FMSHRC 1618, 1630 (August 1994), BethEnerqy
ines Cy FMSHRC 1 ugust 1992).

Rowe and Skelton were not only unaware Rowe was violating
the provisions of the cited subsection but had a reasonable
belief that they were not doing anything that was not permitted
in view of their prior observation of an MSHA inspector engaging
in identical conduct during a prior inspection. Rowe’s conduct
involved ordinary negligence and was a violation of the cited
standard but Rowe’s conduct under the facts of this case was not,
in this instance, "aggravated" and, therefore, his conduct was'
not subject to liability under section 110(c) of the Act.

Citation No. 3630301 - Berms

This order charges the owner-operator Skelton and his
foreman Rowe with a knowing violation of 30 C.F.R. § 56.9300(a).
Inspector Renowden testified that during his inspection of the
mine he observed a lack of berms or guardrails in two areas of
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the inclined roadway extending from the mine office area to the
upper mine bench. Renowden observed a front-end loader with Rowe
and the loader operator in the cab traveling on this roadway.

The cited standard § 56.9300(a) reads as follows:

(a) Berms or guardrails shall be provided
and maintained on the banks of roadways where
a drop-off exists of sufficient grade or
depth to cause a vehicle to overturn or
endanger persons in equipment.

Renowden testified that the elevated roadway had drop offs
of sufficient depth and grade that could cause a vehicle to
overturn and could result in serious or fatal injuries.

Petitioner presented evidence that in the past on two
occasions, March of 1990 and again in October of 1990, the mine
had received citations for inadequate berms on elevated roadways
at the mine. (Gov’t Exs. 11, 12). Respondent presented evidence
that these violations were abated by constructing axle high berms
on the elevated roadways. Over a period of time, however, the
berms had deteriorated due to the weather so that only remnants
of the berm remained in some areas. This was a violative condi-
tion that should have been corrected by Skelton or Rowe. They
observed this violative condition over an extended period of
time. Their failure to correct this violative condition was
"aggravated" conduct and thus the violation subjects them to
liability under section 110(c) of the Act.

Order No. 3 347 - Head Pu Gua

This Order alleges a violation of 30 C.F.R. § 56.14107(a).
The citation reads as follows:

The self-cleaning (fluted) head pulley
operating on the under cone crusher conveyor
belt was not sufficiently guarded. This
condition existed because the existing guard
did not extend sufficient distance to cover
the exposed pinch points and rotating
machinery. The hazardous equipment was
located approximately 2 feet from ground
level and was accessible to contact by a
person.

This unsafe condition was easily noticed
and was not taken care of by the Operator.
The hazard was very obvious. This Operator
has received many citations regarding guards
and does not use reasonable care to ensure
they are properly installed.
The cited safety standard 30 C.F.R. § 56.14107(a) provides:
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(a) Moving machine parts shall be guarded
to protect persons from contacting gears,
sprockets, chains, drive, head, tail, and
takeup pulleys, flywheels, couplings, shafts,
fan blades, and similar moving parts that can
cause injury.

Inspector Renowden testified that the self-cleaning pulley
referred to in the citation as a head pulley was a reversible
pulley. At the time of his inspection it was being used as a
tail pulley. The pulley had a guard but the inspector issued the
citation because he determined it was inadequate. The guard did
not extend a sufficient distance to cover the exposed pinch
points. The exposed moving parts were located approximately 2
feet from the ground and were accessible to human contact.

Perry L. Rowe, the foreman, testified that the guard ob-
served by Inspector Renowden during the instant inspection is the
identical guard that another MSHA Inspector had accepted for the
abatement of an earlier citation, issued by Inspector Dennehy,
for an inadequate guard on this pulley.

I accept Rowe’s testimony that this is the same guard that
was installed to abate an earlier violation and that it passed on
abatement inspection. However, I do not give this fact much
weight as a mitigation factor since I credit the testimony of
Inspector Renowden who offered a reasonable explanation for this
seeming discrepancy. Inspector Renowden explained:

A. Another thing that can happen when you’re
at another pit is if the equipment is set up
somewhat different by =-- by location, in some
instances if the tail or the head’s located
to where it’s not easily accessible to people
or it’s covered partially by material buildup
that never -- never exposes anything, that
would be acceptable at that time. But once
again, when the plant’s relocated and moved
and broken down, what might have been good at
one place is not good at the other place
because of the different layout of the
equipment.

I am satisfied from the testimony of Inspector Renowden and
the photograph, Government Exhibit 8B, that at the location and
set up of the equipment during the instant inspection that the
guard was not adequate to cover all exposed pinch points and was,
therefore, in violation of the cited standard. The violation was
a "knowing" violation within the meaning of section 110(c) be-
cause it was obvious and existed over an extended period of time
without being corrected by either Skelton or Rowe. This failure
to correct the violative condition was aggravated conduct that
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involved more than merely ordinary negligence and subjects both
of the named Respondents to liability under section 110(c) of the
Act.

PENALTY
Section 110(c) of the Act provides as follows:

(c) Whenever a corporate operator violates
a mandatory health or safety standard or
knowingly violates or fails or refuses to
comply with any order issued under this Act
or any order incorporated in a final decision
issued under this Act, except an order incor-
porated in a decision issued under subsection
(a) or section 105(c), any director, officer,
or agent of such corporation who knowingly
authorized, ordered, or carried out such vio-
lation, failure, or refusal shall be subject
to the same civil penalties, fines, and
imprisonment that may be imposed upon a
person under subsections (a) and (d).

Section 110(i) of the Mine Act provides:

(i) The Commission shall have authority to
assess all civil penalties provided in this
Act. 1In assessing civil monetary penalties,
the Commission shall consider the operator’s
history of previous violations, the appro-
priateness of such penalty to the size of the
business of the operator charged, whether the
operator was negligent, the effect on the
operator’s ability to continue in business,
the gravity of the violation and the demon-
strated good faith of the person charged in
attempting to achieve rapid compliance after
notification of a violation. In proposing
civil penalties under this Act, the Secretary
may rely upon summary review of the informa-
tion available to him and shall not be re-
quired to make findings of fact concerning
the above factors.

Mr. Skelton incorporated his small mining business in 1973.
He testified that no employee has ever had a fatal or permanent
disabling injury.

I am mindful the Respondent, Skelton, in his corporate

persona, Skelton, Inc., defaulted on each of the five identical
citations that are now charged against Skelton as an agent of his
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incorporated self in this present proceeding and against his
foreman Perry Rowe.

These penalties against Skelton, Inc. were incurred when
Skelton in his per se representation of his corporate persona,
through no ones fault but his own, defaulted on the citations
against Skelton, Inc. As a result of that default substantial
penalties were assessed for the same identical citations involved
in this case.

I have no intention of piercing the corporate veil in this
case but it does seem ironic that agents of a partnership of two
or more corporations do not have 110(c) liability whereas the
working owners of a very small mining operation consisting of one
or two working owners who incorporate their small business are in
addition to being subject to penalties in their corporate persona
are again on the same identical citations subject to additional
substantial penalties under section 110(c) as agents of their
incorporated self.

In this case, the sole shareholders in the company are
Skelton and his secretary, Ms. Gray. They are working owners and
their only employees are their foreman, Rowe, and one other
person.

Ms. Gray credibly testified that in addition to her secre-
tarial duties, she has been operating the crusher since October
1994. Ms. Gray impressed me as an unfeigned, sincere witness.
Ms. Gray testified in part as follows:

[W]e did take some penalties to court in a
situation such as this, where we felt we were
absolutely right. Guards had been previously
approved by Roy Trujillo. And Mr. Renowden
and Mr. Dennehy came in, and they didn’t like
those guards. And so we had to change the
guards and were cited again. And when we
went to court, the Judge increased the
penalty.

And at that point we thought, you know, we
wasted two days and to no avail. And when
you pull Dwayne (Skelton) and Perry (Rowe)
and I away from the business, you’ve got your
three top people. And it’s very difficult to
run a business without -- as small as we
are -- without the top management.

As far as Dwayne’s (Skelton) salary is
concerned, he was making $2500 a month until
December, at which time we bought a piece of
equipment. And because Skelton, Incorpora-
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ted, is -- is overloaded with debt, we put
this in his name and gave him a salary in-
crease to $3500 to make the monthly payment
on that piece of equipment.

I, myself, have not been drawing a salary
since -- an actual paycheck. I think the
last one I got was July of ‘93. And the
reason for this is because we got into a
couple of situations, you might say, where we
were working out of town and didn’t get paid;
in 789, and then came back here and worked in
Ridgway and didn’t get paid again in 1990.

In each case it was a hundred thousand
dollars, and it really set us back badly. So
we still have debts outstanding from those
time periods. And it’s in order to try to
alleviate that debt, I‘ve been forgoing a
salary. I felt -- I’ve been working, but I
haven’t got paid.

As far as the MSHA payments are concerned,
we (Skelton, Inc.) were paying $750 a month
total for the previous citations. These were
from 1990 up to 92, I believe. Perry (Rowe)
just paid off -- Perry’s civil penalties have
been paid off, and we’re (Skelton, Inc.)
still paying on Dwayne’s (Skelton) civil
penalties and the corporate civil penalties
and my ex-husband’s civil penalties. So the
payments are $650 a month total.

MS. GRAY: The new citations that were issued
in 792 totaled $28,000. We didn’t fight them
because of the previous situation. 1It’s very
difficult to try to know where you stand.

THE JUDGE: Those are the penalties on the
citations that we’re hearing about today?

MS. GRAY: That’s correct. We (Skelton,
Inc.) were fined $3300 for the two people
riding in the loader, when you don’t even
know that’s illegal; when the inspector has
done that himself, and you assume it’s all
right.

We (Skelton, Inc.) were fined, I believe,
$2200 for that guard, that was an existing
guard that had been previously approved that
had not been altered in any way since it was
approved. The setup is the same.
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I mean, as Perry (Rowe) said, that crusher,
that under cone crusher -- or under cone
conveyor is there. 1It’s part of that plant,
and it doesn’t move. And they couldn’t have
made it so short because the dirt was there,
because there’s a lot of material coming
through that cone and a lot of weight falling
on that belt. And when it does, it can’t
function if it’s not clean. A tail pulley
has to be clean all the time.

I sent paperwork to the U.S. Attorney --
regarding payment on this $28,000. I haven’t
heard back from her. I don’t know what the
payments are going to be set up as.

I don’‘t have any idea how we’re going to pay
this $15,000. Obviously, we can’t put the
penalty on Perry (Rowe) because, you know,
that’s not right. He’s working for us. So
Skelton, Incorporated, will be responsible.
I don’t know.

I -- as I said, I run the crusher now. I
have for -- since October of ‘94. And I do
my level best to make sure that the guards
are in place, to make sure there’s a berm on
the roadway, to make sure that things are
working as they’re supposed to be. Just the
same as Perry and Dwayne have done. They try
to work with MSHA.

Roy’s (MSHA Inspector Trujillo) been the one
who’s been inspecting us lately. And his
attitude when he comes into the pit is
totally different. He’s there to help us.
He’s there to make sure our employees are
safe. And I feel that is the responsibility
of an inspector, to come in there and make
sure that you’re running a safe operation;
not to make sure that you get a citation. I
believe an inspector’s position is to aid and
assist.

* * *

But the point is that we have been trying to
work with MSHA to the best of our ability.
There’s -- there are times when we do have to
take guards off, but we try to put them back
on. And it’s just very difficult for an
Operator to have someone come in and approve
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something and then have someone from the same
organization come in and say, "That’s not
right. That’s not acceptable."

* %* *

I can give you financial statements if you
would like.

THE JUDGE: What will the financial
statements show?

MS GRAY: The financial statements would show
that this company is still carrying a debit
in their unappropriated retained earnings,
which means that it’s a negative amount. We
did make profit last year. The company is
carrying a credit in their net equity, but
the onl ey are is because Dwayne

(Skelton) and I have put so much money into
this business. We both mortgaged our houses
and then subsequently sold those houses and

wrote those notes back to the shareholders
off into paid-in capital.

%* * *

Q. Now, you also said that the company is
currently paying Mr. Rowe’s and Mr. Skelton’s
previous penalties?

A. Mr. Skelton’s. Mr. Rowe’s are paid.

Q. And those were paid by the company?

A. That’s correct.

Q. With regard to these assessments, if
penalties are assessed against Mr. Rowe and
Mr. Skelton for these violations, would the
company also pay those penalties?

A. Don’t you think they’re obligated to?
Q. I would think -- I’m asking you.

A. I’m sure that we would feel obligated to
do so, yes.

Inspector Renowden testified that he was not angry when he
wrote these unwarrantable failure citations but he was frustra-
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ted. His frustration is easy to understand. Fortunately, it
appears from Ms. Gray’s testimony that Respondents now have a
much better cooperative attitude with the MSHA inspector who
currently is making the mine’s mandatory inspections.

Upon consideration of the applicable statutory criteria I
find on balance the following penalties are appropriate against
the corporate agents of this very small corporation:

ORD.

Within 40 days of this Decision, Respondent Lothan Dwayne
Skelton, in Docket No. WEST 93-644-M SHALL PAY to the Secretary
of Labor the sum of $3,850.00 as and for the civil penalties
shown below:

Citation or

Order Number Penalty
3904346 $1,000.00
3904347 1,000.00
3904353 1,000.00
3630301 850.00
3904360 0

Within 40 days of this Decision, Respondent Perry L. Rowe in
Docket No. WEST 93-645-M SHALL PAY to the Secretary of Labor the
sum of $1,500.00 as and for the civil penalties shown below:

Citation or

Order Number Penalty
3904346 $ 400.00
3904347 400.00
3904353 400.00
3630301 300 00
3904360

@ﬁ,ﬁr%/'

Administrative Law Judge
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Distribution:

Kristi Floyd, Esq., Office of the Solicitor, U.S. Department of
Labor, 1999 Broadway, Suite 1600, Denver, CO 80202-5716
(Certified Mail)

Mr. Lothan Dwayne Skelton, SKELTON, INC., P.O. Box 125, Norwood,
CO 81423 (Certified Mail)

Mr. Perry Lee Rowe, SKELTON, INC., P.O. Box 125, Norwood, CO
81423 (Certified Mail)

Ms. Ruth Gray, Corporate Secretary, SKELTON, INC., P.O. Box 125,
Norwood, CO 81423 (Certified Mail)

/sh
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FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH REVIEW COMMISSION
1244 SPEER BOULEVARD #280
DENVER, CO 80204-3582
303-844-3577/FAX 303-844-5268

JuL 161996

DANIEL A. HERNANDEZ, DISCRIMINATION PROCEEDING

Complainant
Docket No. WEST 95-398-DM

LA L L 1

v.
American Girl Mine
AMERICAN GIRL JOINT VENTURE, Mine ID No. 04-04816

Respondent

ORDER OF DISMISSAL

Before: Judge Manning

On or about May 30, 1995, Daniel A. Hernandez filed a com-
plaint with the Commission. The complaint was assigned the
docket number set forth above and was assigned to me on July 12,
1995. In the complaint, Mr. Hernandez states that the complaint
"is not a complaint of discrimination" but is a "complaint of how
a mine can operate so unsafe and get away with it." It is evi-
dent from the complaint that Mr. Hernandez was terminated from
his employment, but the reason is not clearly explained. Mr.
Hernandez states: "I got fired because I spoke up for myself
trying to get the lead miner position and then got a blasting
license in order to do things right." (Complaint at 3).

Respondent contends that Mr. Hernandez failed to raise a
claim that is protected by the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act
of 1977, 30 U.S.C. § 801 et seq. (1988) ("Mine Act"). Respondent
alleges that Mr. Hernandez performed a dangerous act, drilling
near loaded blast holes, and that the company terminated him for
that act.

This case was set for hearing on three occasions but in each
instance the hearing was canceled. In telephone conversations,
Mr. Hernandez stated that he was not sure that he would proceed
with this case on his own and that he looked for an attorney to
represent him but was not successful. On February 29, 1996, 1
ordered the parties to try again to settle this case. Counsel
for Respondent advised me that he attempted to contact Hernandez
but that Mr. Hernandez did not respond to his telephone calls or
letters.
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Because of the age of this case and the fact that Mr.
Hernandez'’s complaint does not appear to allege a violation of
section 105(c) of the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977,
30 U.S.C. § 815(c) (1988) (the "Mine Act"), I issued an order to
show cause to Mr. Hernandez requiring him to explain why this
case should not be dismissed. In the show cause order, dated
May 3, 1996, I advised Mr. Hernandez that it is not clear that
he was alleging that his termination from employment violated
the anti-discrimination provisions of the Mine Act. I asked
Mr. Hernandez to send me a letter by June 28, 1996, describing
his termination and explaining whether he believes that he was
fired for making a safety complaint or for refusing to do work
that he considered to be unsafe. I also advised Mr. Hernandez
that if he did not timely respond to the order to show cause, I
would assume that he no longer wishes to proceed with this case
and I would issue an order dismissing the case. Mr. Hernandez
did not respond to the show cause order.

Section 105(c) (1) of the Mine Act protects miners from
retaliation for exercising rlghts protected under the Mine Act.
The purpose of the protection is to encourage miners "to play an
active part in the enforcement of the Act" recognizing that, "if
miners are to be encouraged to be active in matters of safety and
health, they must be protected against any possible discrimina-
tion which they might suffer as a result of their participation."
S. Rep. No. 181, tb Cong., 1st Sess. 35 (1977), reprinted in
Senate Subcommittee on Labor, Committee on Human Resources, 95th
Cong., 24 Sess., Legislative History of the Federal Mine Safety
and Health Act of 1977, at 623 (1978).

A miner alleging discrimination under the Mine Act estab-
lishes a prima facie case by proving that he engaged in protected
activity and that the adverse action complained of was motivated
in any part by that activ